
 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
Tuesday, September 22, 2015                                                                                             City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

 Roadmap to 70% Recycling (Pat McLaughlin & Jeff Gaisford with King County Solid Waste 
Division) – 20 minutes 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 

the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 

C-1. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
C-2. Approve Street Sweeping Contract Amendment No. 1 (Vondran) 

C-3. Approve Jenkins Creek Park Pedestrian Project Change Order No. 1 and Amendment No. 4 
(Vondran) 

 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 

 Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  June 11, July 9, August 13, and September 10 meetings. 

 Parks & Recreation Chair Laura Morrissey:  August 19 and September 16 meetings. 

 Planning Chair Bill Judd:  August 6, August 20, & September 17 meetings (Sept. 3 canceled). 

 Arts Member Jennifer Harjehausen:  August 13 and September 10 meetings. 

 Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  August 27 meeting. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
1. Appointment to Human Services Commission (Council) 
2. Annual Aquatics Update Presentation – 30 minutes (Bahl) 
3. Consider Ordinance to Include Mandatory Garbage Collection and/or Yard Waste & Recycling 

(Vondran) 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

 

 
 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 To Discuss Potential Litigation Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(i) 
 

ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 
 



Consent Agenda Item C-1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  September 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Vouchers #33030-33081, including ACH payments and electronic funds 
transfers, in the amount of $434,385.87 dated September 4, 2015. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers #33030-33081, including ACH 
payments and electronic funds transfers, in the amount of $434,385.87 dated 
September 4, 2015. 
 
 
 

 

1 of 49



2 of 49



3 of 49



4 of 49



5 of 49



6 of 49



7 of 49



8 of 49



9 of 49



 Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  September 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:   AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AMENDMENT #1 TO 

AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES WITH BEST PARKING LOT CLEANING FOR 
THE JOINT COVINGTON/MAPLE VALLEY STREET SWEEPING. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
1.  Amendment #1 to Agreement for Services with Best Parking Lot Cleaning 
 
PREPARED BY:  Shellie Bates, Programs Supervisor 
 
EXPLANATION:  
In September 2014 the City Council awarded the Street Sweeping Agreement to the lowest, most 
qualified bidder, Best Parking Lot Cleaning, in an amount not to exceed $119,521 to perform 
street sweeping services in Covington and Maple Valley as outlined in the agreement. 
 
As per Section 3 of the current agreement between the City of Covington and Best Parking Lot 
Cleaning which states, “This contract may be renewed each September for the succeeding two (2) 
years (2015/2016 and 2016/2017) upon performance audit and approval by the City.  The unit price 
of the contract will be adjusted each year using the Seattle-Tacoma Consumer Price Index – Urban 
(CPI-W) rate starting with June of 2014 as the initial benchmark and the rate in June in subsequent 
years to be applied in October of that year.” 
 
Based on the above criteria, Best Parking Lot Cleaning has fulfilled their obligation under the 
terms of the agreement and staff recommends that the agreement be extended for another 12 
months.  The Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Works (CPI-W) for 
Seattle-Tacoma-Bremerton, WA for June 2015 is 1.6072 percent.  With the rate adjusted as 
described it will be an increase of 1.6072 percent for the next 12 months. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Do not amend the existing street sweeping agreement and advertise the project for competitive 
bids.  This alternative would impact the City with an interruption in the street sweeping service. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The 2015 budgeted amount for this service is $119,521 (Surface Water Management Fund).  The 
2016 budgeted amount for this service is $121,450 (Surface Water Management Fund). 
 
With the above changes, Amendment #1 will include an amount not to exceed $121,450. 
 
The City of Covington’s portion of the contract is $62,588 and the City of Maple Valley’s 
portion is $49,435.  The remainder of the contract is for emergency response and storm clean up 
sweeping services. 

10 of 49



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:              Ordinance            Resolutions       X     Motion         Other 
 

Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute Amendment #1 to 
Agreement for Services with Best Parking Lot Cleaning for the joint 
Covington/Maple Valley street sweeping. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

11 of 49



 

 Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 

 
Amendment #1 

 
Between the City of Covington and Best Parking Lot Cleaning 

 
 

That portion of Contract No. 1316-14 between the City of Covington and Best Parking 
Lot Cleaning entered into by the parties on the 23rd day of September, 2014, is amended 
pursuant to Section 17 of said Agreement, as follows: 
 

1. Term of Agreement.  Section 3 of the Agreement shall be amended to 
extend the term of the Agreement until September 30, 2016. 

2. Compensation.  Section 4.1 of the Agreement shall be amended to include 
the Seattle-Tacoma Consumer Price Index – Urban (CPI-W) rate for June 
2015 of 1.6072 percent for an amount not to exceed $121,450. 

 
All other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Dated this 22nd day of September, 2015. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year written 
above. 
 
CITY OF COVINGTON 
 
 
____________________________________ 
By: Regan Bolli 
Its: City Manager 
 
 
Attest:       Approved as to form: 
 
 
____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk    Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

ATTACHMENT 1

12 of 49



Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  September 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE CHANGE ORDER #1 

AND AMENDMENT NUMBER 4 FOR THE JENKINS CREEK PARK 
PEDESTRIAN PROJECT 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
1. Construction Change Order No. 1 – WHH Nisqually Federal Services, LLC  
2. Design Amendment #4 – Gray and Osborne 
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
During staff comments of the September 8th City Council meeting, the Public Works Director 
mentioned that a change order and design amendment would be needed to address an issue that 
the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) had with the outfall channel of 
Spring Pond.  WDFW determined, during the construction of the Jenkins Creek Park Pedestrian 
Project, that the reestablishment of the weir and outfall channel to its original design was not 
acceptable.  Staff met with WDFW and determined that their recommended modifications would 
be an overall benefit and reduce maintenance issues in the future.  The contractor gave a price for 
the change order to be $26,251.50.  In order to keep the project moving and not impact the 
critical path of the project, staff requested approval from council to authorize the issuance of the 
change order. 
 
There are design and permitting costs that are associated with the outfall channel from Gray and 
Osborne (G & O), as well as additional work that was not included in their original scope of 
work that is included as part of Amendment #4.  The breakdown of the costs of Amendment #4 
are as follows: 
 

Outfall channel – design and environmental permitting  $6,492 
Outfall channel – construction management and surveying $2,932 
*Additional work – survey and  modifications associated with prefabricated 
bridges 

$14,976 

 

*There has been a significant increase in the survey needs associated with the project than 

was originally estimated.  This is partially due to vandals removing the surveyed markers 

that tell the contractor where to construct the bridge.  This has required G & O to come out 

and resurvey the locations.  Also, modifications to the foundation designs were needed based 

on the submitted drawings from the bridge manufacturer.  

 
 
 

13 of 49



The following is some background on the amendments with G & O for this project.   
 First Amendment $3,000 – Additional Topographic Survey. 
 Second Amendment $32,730 – Construction Management support after project was 

awarded. 
 Third Amendment $0 – simple extension of the contract date. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The cost of the construction of the change order is $26,251.50 and the total design/CM 
amendment is $24,390.  We had anticipated that additional design/CM may be needed based on 
the complexity of the bridges and had setup a management reserve fund (see attachment 2) in the 
previous amendment in the amount of $8,000.  In addition, there was a contingency in the budget 
of $15,636.  The balance of the costs will be covered by the SWM fund. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance               Resolution       X    Motion             Other  
 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute Change Order Number 1 
with WHH Nisqually in the amount of $26,251.50 for the Jenkins Creek Park 
Pedestrian Project. 
 
Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute Amendment Number 4 
with Gray & Osborne in the amount of $24,390 which includes the release of 
the management reserve fund of $8,000.  
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

14 of 49



ATTACHMENT 1

15 of 49



16 of 49



330

340

350

360

330

340

350

360

0+00 1+00

●

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
C

O
V

I
N

G
T

O
N

J
E

N
K

I
N

S
 
C

R
E

E
K

 
P

A
R

K
 
P

E
D

E
S

T
R

I
A

N

A
N

D
 
A

D
A

 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

20

PLAN

PROFILE

SPILL CONTROL CROSS SECTION A STA 0+15.5 (LOOKING UPSTREAM)

SECTION B

TYPICAL CROSS SECTION

17 of 49



●

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
C

O
V

I
N

G
T

O
N

J
E

N
K

I
N

S
 
C

R
E

E
K

 
P

A
R

K
 
P

E
D

E
S

T
R

I
A

N

A
N

D
 
A

D
A

 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

20

CHANNEL STREAMBED MATERIALS

1.  GENERAL: STREAMBED MATERIALS SHALL BE WELL-GRADED, NATURALLY OCCURRING, ROUNDED, AND
UNWASHED.  MATERIALS SHALL BE COMPOSED OF STREAMBED SEDIMENT AND STREAMBED COBBLES,
PER WSDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 9-03.11, AS DESCRIBE HEREIN.

2-A. STREAMBED SEDIMENT SHALL COMPRISE 10 PERCENT OF THE TOTAL BED MATERIAL MIX AND
CONFORM TO A WELL-GRADED MIX MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF WSDOT 9-03.11(1).

2-B. STREAMBED COBBLES - 4 INCH GRADING SHALL COMPRISE 60 PERCENT OF THE TOTAL BED MATERIAL
MIX AND CONFORM TO A WELL-GRADED MIX MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF WSDOT 9-03.11(2) FOR
4-INCH COBBLES, EXCEPT THAT MATERIAL SHALL BE UNWASHED AND SHALL CONTAIN A MAX OF 10
PERCENT PASSING OF THE #200 SEIVE.

2-C.  STREAMBED COBBLES - 12 INCH GRADING SHALL COMPRISE 30 PERCENT OF THE TOTAL BED MATERIAL
MIX AND CONFORM TO A WELL-GRADED MIX MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF WSDOT 9-03.11(2) FOR 12
INCH COBBLES, EXCEPT THAT MATERIAL SHALL BE UNWASHED AND SHALL CONTAIN A MAX OF 10
PERCENT PASSING OF THE #200 SEIVE.

PLACEMENT OF BED MATERIAL IN STREAM

1. PRIOR TO PLACING MATERIAL IN THE STREAM, THE STREAMBED SEDIMENT AND COBBLES SHALL BE
WELL-MIXED.  THE MIX SHALL BE PLACED AND SPREAD IN THE CHANNEL SUCH THAT THE CROSS SECTION
OF THE CHANNEL SHALL PROMOTE FLOW IN THE CENTER OF THE CHANNEL.

SPILL CONTROL FOOTER ROCK

1. FOOTER ROCK SHALL CONFORM TO REQUIREMENTS OF WSDOT 9-03.11(3) FOR ROCK SIZES OF 24 INCHES
OR LARGER WITHIN THE TWO-MAN ROCK SIZE CATEGORY.

CHANNEL CROSS SECTION C STA 0+50 (LOOKING UPSTREAM)

PROFILE

18 of 49



ATTACHMENT 2

19 of 49



20 of 49



21 of 49



22 of 49



23 of 49



Agenda Item 1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  September 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:   APPOINTMENT TO THE HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Victoria Throm, Personnel & Human Services Analyst 
                
ATTACHMENTS:  See Interview Schedule and Applications provided separately. 

 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk  
 
EXPLANATION:   
On September 8 two youth applicants were interviewed for the Human Services Commission by 
the Council subcommittee.  The recordings of both interviews was forwarded to all 
councilmembers. 
 
Human Services Commission – Seven Members (Two of which must be Youth): 

 One youth position (a replacement position); youth positions may be inside or outside 
Covington city limits as long as within three-mile radius. 

 The current composition of the commission is four adult members residing inside and one 
adult and one youth residing outside. 

  
      Name of Applicant (Youth)          Resides or Works  
Emily Bykonen (interviewed September 8)     Resides outside Covington* 
Joshua (Josh) Max (interviewed September 8)     Resides inside Covington 
 
*within three-mile radius of Covington city limits 
 
NOTE: Ordinance Nos. 10-13, 04-05 § 1, and 22-02 § 1) Membership, terms, residence 

requirement:  “Three members shall be adults residing or working within the City of Covington, 
two shall be adults residing inside or outside of the City of Covington but within a three-mile 
radius of the City limits and two shall be youth members between the ages of 14 and 18 years at 
the start of their terms residing in or within a three-mile radius of the City of Covington. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Not appoint at this time and direct staff to continue to advertise for additional applicants to be 
considered for the open positions. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance            Resolution       X     Motions            Other  

 
Councilmember ______________ moves, Councilmember ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _________________ to fill youth replacement Position No. 4 
on the Human Services Commission with a term expiring March 31, 2016. 
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager, Personnel & Human Services Analyst 

24 of 49



 Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  September 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: ANNUAL AQUATICS UPDATE PRESENTATION TO CITY COUNCIL 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Angie Feser, Interim Parks & Recreation Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
 1. None 
 
PREPARED BY:  Rachel Ann Bahl, Aquatics Supervisor 
 
EXPLANATION:   
The Annual Aquatics Update Presentation to City Council provides the Council with information 
regarding the operations, staffing, and programs of the Covington Aquatic Center. Staff will 
present an overview of the Aquatic Center’s operations, highlighting recent and upcoming 
changes, and will request feedback if any additional information is needed by Council. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Presentation only 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  
 

NO PUBLIC ACTION NECESSARY – DISCUSSION ITEM ONLY 
 

25 of 49



Agenda Item 3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  September 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO UNIVERSAL MANDATORY 

SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE, WITH OR WITHOUT MANDATORY 
YARD WASTE COLLECTION, AND AMENDING CHAPTER 8.15 CMC  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Regan Bolli, City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
1. Option 1:  Proposed Ordinance Relating to Universal Mandatory Solid Waste Collection 

Services in the City of Covington; Amending Chapter 8.15 of the CMC 
2. Option 2:  Proposed Ordinance Relating to Universal Mandatory Solid Waste and Yard 

Waste Collection Services in the City of Covington; Amending Chapter 8.15 of the CMC 
3. Comparison for Mandatory Solid Waste Services Spreadsheet 
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, PE, Public Works Director 
                              Shellie Bates, Programs Supervisor 
 
EXPLANATION: 
A.  Background 
On January 31, 2015, at the council’s Annual Strategic Planning Summit, the council discussed 
mandatory garbage, recycling, and yard waste collection in Covington and requested that staff 
research the impacts and provide a follow-up presentation. 
 
At the regular council meeting on April 28, 2015, staff presented additional information 
regarding mandatory garbage, recycling, and yard waste collection.  The council further 
discussed the issue and directed staff to bring back an ordinance for the council’s consideration 
for implementing mandatory garbage and recycling collection either with or without mandatory 
yard waste collection.  
 
B.  Proposed Ordinances for Consideration 
Pursuant to council’s direction, staff has prepared two ordinances for the council’s consideration.  

 Option 1 amends CMC 8.15 to include universal mandatory solid waste collection 
(including recycling) ONLY, and does not make yard waste collection mandatory.  

(Attachment 1)  
 Option 2 amends CMC 8.15 to include universal mandatory solid waste collection (and 

recycling), AND mandatory yard waste collection.  (Attachment 2) 
 
To note:  Pursuant to the definitions in CMC 8.15.010, “solid waste” includes recyclable 
materials.  Additionally, as the council will recall from staff’s presentation in April, the city’s 
contracted solid waste collector, Republic Services, includes recycling service with garbage 
service.  Therefore, the mandatory collection of solid waste automatically includes the 
mandatory collection of recyclable materials.  Yard waste collection service is separate from the 
solid waste collection service.  

26 of 49



 
Common provisions of both proposed ordinances include: 
 

 Universal mandatory solid waste collection service with the city’s contracted collector (at 
least at the minimum service level provided by the collector). 

 Exceptions to mandatory collection service (e.g. adjoining properties owned by same 
owner; both commercial and residential properties within the city; access to property; 
etc.).  

 Criminal enforcement provisions for illegal dumping of solid waste and yard waste. 
 An effective date of July 1, 2016.  This will allow city staff time to develop and 

administer an extended education plan to help current and non-subscribers to better 
understand the reason for and benefits of mandatory collection (as strongly recommended 
by other cities that have adopted mandatory collection).  

 
C.  Rates Comparison 
As presented by staff at the April 28th council meeting, public works staff worked with the city’s 
finance staff and Republic Services to determine how the adoption of an ordinance making solid 
waste and yard waste services mandatory will affect the respective rates for each (as compared 
with the current rates for each).  
 
The attached spreadsheet shows rates for current services, rates for mandatory services, and the 
additional revenue that would be generated from additional citizens subscribing to solid waste 
and yard waste services if made mandatory, as well as estimated revenue from an increase in the 
utility tax collected.  (Attachment 3)  
 
D.  Other Cities with Mandatory Collection 
Numerous cities have adopted mandatory solid waste collection, including Auburn, Kent, 
Renton, Lynnwood, Puyallup, and Shelton.  The City of Kent went to mandatory solid waste and 
yard waste collection services several years ago.  After making their solid waste collection 
mandatory, they noticed a decrease in code enforcement cases regarding garbage, including 
dumping in areas around the city such as storm ponds and green belts.  This was an added benefit 
in terms of compliance with their National Pollutant Discharge and Elimination System 
(NPDES) permit.  
 
E.  Requested Action. 
City staff is requesting that the council select one of the options provided below: 
 
Option 1:  Pass the ordinance amending CMC 8.15 to include universal mandatory solid waste 
collection (including recycling) ONLY, and does not make yard waste collection mandatory 
(yard waste collection service would still remain optional). 
 
Option 2:  Pass the ordinance amending CMC 8.15 to include universal mandatory solid waste 
collection (and recycling), AND mandatory yard waste collection 
 
 
 

27 of 49



ALTERNATIVES: 
1. Council may direct staff to amend either or both of the proposed ordinances to bring back 

to the council for further review. 
 

2. Do not pass either proposed ordinance and leave the city’s current optional solid waste, 
and yard waste collection services unchanged.  No motion or action is needed by council 
for this alternative (and, if either or both Options 1 and 2 fail to pass, this alternative will 
be the default outcome).  

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
The estimated revenue increase in utility tax from mandatory solid waste AND yard waste 
collection would be about $35,000 annually, based on the current utility tax rate of 6%.   
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:   X      Ordinance         Resolution        Motion         Other 
 
Option 1:  Council member ____________ moves, Council member _____________ 

seconds, to pass an ordinance, in substantial form as that attached hereto, 
relating to universal mandatory solid waste collection services in the City of 
Covington and amending Chapter 8.15 of the CMC to affect the same, with an 
effective date of July 1, 2016.  

 
Option 2:  Council member ____________ moves, Council member _____________ 

seconds, to pass an ordinance, in substantial form as that attached hereto, 
relating to universal mandatory solid waste and yard waste collection services 
in the city of Covington and amending Chapter 8.15 of the CMC to affect the 
same, with an effective date of July 1, 2016.  

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; City Attorney, Finance Director 

28 of 49



1 of 8 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 

OPTION 1 — Mandatory Solid Waste (and Recycling) ONLY 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. XX-15 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, RELATING TO UNIVERSAL 
MANDATORY SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE IN 
THE CITY OF COVINGTON; AMENDING CHAPTER 8.15 OF 
THE COVINGTON MUNICIPAL CODE AND RELATED 
ORDINANCES REGULATING SOLID WASTE; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, SEVERABILITY, 
AND SUMMARY PUBLICATION.  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Covington (“City”) has broad authority under the Washington 

State Constitution, Article XI, Section 11 and under state statutes, including Titles 35 and 35A of 
the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), to enact regulations the city council determines are 
necessary and appropriate to promote public health, safety, and general welfare within the City; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the regulation of common nuisance activities is a necessary governmental 

service to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare and to promote economic growth, 
environmental compliance, and aesthetic values in the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the accumulation of garbage and refuse on property and illegal dumping on 

private and public property, including storm ponds and green belts, can lead to the harboring of 
vermin, the creation of odors, the spread of litter to adjacent private and public property, and 
other health, safety, and environmental problems; is detrimental to neighborhood quality, 
stability, and property values; can interfere with the city’s compliance with its National Pollutant 
Discharge and Elimination System (NPDES) permit; and is unsightly and contrary to the 
aesthetic values of the community and therefore is detrimental and contrary to the 
aforementioned goals; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has determined that a universal, mandatory solid waste collection 

requirement would be the best mechanism to prevent the harms described above; and 
 
WHEREAS, the entire City is served by a contracted solid waste collector; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city council has determined that it will promote the public health, safety, 

and general welfare, and will be in the best interests of the City and the City’s property owners, 
residents, tenants, and general public, to enact the regulations in this ordinance requiring that 
solid waste collection service is mandatory for all premises in the City, commercial and 
residential, that create, generate, or accumulate solid waste and refuse; 
 

29 of 49



2 of 8 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 
Section 1.  Chapter 8.15 CMC Amended. Chapter 8.15 of the Covington Municipal Code 
(CMC) and Ordinance No. 04-02, as amended by Ordinance No. 04-13, are amended as follows: 

8.15.010 Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter, unless otherwise defined, the following shall have the 
intended definitions: 

(1) “Collector” or “collector of solid waste and/or recyclables” means the company(ies) 
with which the City has contracted to collect, haul, or dispose of solid waste, recyclables, 
and/or yard waste. 

(2) “Commercial” means any establishment or business that is not residential in nature, 
including hotels/motels, churches, nonprofit organizations, Federal, State and local 
government-owned facilities. 

(3) “Person” means every person, firm, partnership, association, institution, and 
corporation. The term shall also mean the occupant and/or the owner of the premises for 
which service mentioned in this chapter is rendered. 

(4) “Solid waste” means all putrescible and nonputrescible solid and semisolid wastes 
including, but not limited to, garbage, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, swill, sewage 
sludge, demolition and construction wastes, abandoned vehicles or parts thereof, and 
recyclable materials, and yard waste. (RCW 70.95.030(22)). 

(5) “Yard waste” means compostable organic materials resulting from landscape 
maintenance and pre- and post-consumer organic wastes including, but not limited to, 
leaves, brush, tree trimmings, grass clippings, weeds, shrubs, garden waste, and food 
scraps. Branches or roots must be smaller than four (4) inches in diameter and shorter 
than four (4) feet in length. Yard waste does not include stumps, demolition wood, large 
amounts of dirt, rocks, glass, plastics, metal, concrete, sheet rock, asphalt, or any other 
nonorganic land-clearing debris. (The collector may change the range of materials 
handled as yard waste upon the approval of the City to reflect those materials allowed by 
the Seattle-King County Health Department to be treated as such for the frequency of 
collection provided by the collector.) 

8.15.020 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to prevent harm to the health and safety of the public and to 
promote the public health, safety, and general welfare by providing for the regulation of 
solid waste collection and disposal and maintaining consistent and reliable solid waste 
services under the exclusive supervision and control of the City.  

It is expressly the purpose of this chapter to provide for and promote the health of the 
general public, and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular class or 

30 of 49



3 of 8 
 

group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of 
this chapter. 

It is the specific intent of this chapter to place the obligation of complying with its 
requirements upon waste generators, collectors, and/or operators of solid waste handling 
sites, and no provision of, nor term used in this chapter is intended to impose any duty 
whatsoever upon the City nor any of its officers or employees, for whom the 
implementation or enforcement of this chapter shall be discretionary and not mandatory. 

Nothing contained in this chapter is intended to be, nor shall be construed to create or 
form the basis for any liability on the part of the City or its officers, employees or agents, 
for any injury or damage resulting from the failure of any person subject to this chapter to 
comply with the provisions herein, or by reason or in consequence of any act or omission 
in connection with the implementation or enforcement of this chapter on the part of the 
City.  

8.15.030 Hauling restrictions.  

It is unlawful for any person, other than a contractorcollector having a contract for solid 
waste and recyclable material collection and disposal with the City, to collect, haul, or 
dispose of solid waste within the City. Provided, however, nothing in this section shall be 
construed to prohibit (1) portions of the waste stream that are being recycled through 
permitted commercial recyclers; or (2) a residential occupant transporting, on a 
nonregular or occasional basis, surplus accumulations of rubbish or garbage from his/her 
residence to an approved disposal site. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.040 Contract for solid waste collection services – Terms. 

(1) The City shall let a contract or contracts to provide for the collection of all solid 
wastes and yard waste within the City. The details of such a contract or contracts shall be 
agreed upon after negotiations and the City Council’s action thereon shall be final. Such 
negotiations may be preceded by a call for bids or proposals if determined to be 
necessary and at the discretion of City Council. Such contract shall obligate the collector 
to pick up solid wastes and yard waste in the City in accordance with this chapter and 
shall provide for the collector to be paid for its services out of fees for collection. 

(2) Every such contract for solid waste and yard waste collection also shall contain a 
provision that such contract may not be assigned by the collector, or the responsibilities 
thereunder transferred, except with the prior consent of the City. 

(3) Such contract(s) shall be for such term as the City Council shall find is in the best 
public interest and may contain provisions, upon proper standards, for adjustments in 
service rates. 

(4) Such contract(s) shall contain suitable provisions permitting the forfeiture of the 
contract for nonperformance or violation of such contract by the collector. (Ord. 04-13 
§ 1 (Exh. 1)) 

 

31 of 49



4 of 8 
 

8.15.050 Collection – Requirements. 

(1) Solid waste. 

(a) Solid waste collection required. The collector shall collect, remove, and 
dispose of all solid waste from the premises, whether residential, commercial, industrial, 
or otherwise, existing within the City upon such periodic schedule as included in the 
collection contract. All persons and properties within the city are required to use the solid 
waste collector(s) of the city and it shall be unlawful for any person, other than those duly 
authorized by the city, to haul solid waste through the streets of the city. Pursuant to the 
definition of “solid waste” in this chapter, solid waste collection shall also include the 
collection of recyclable materials. 

(b) Solid waste minimum service level. All persons and occupied property shall 
use and be responsible for at least the minimum level of solid waste collection service, 
including recycling, and associated charges for residential or commercial service, as 
applicable, offered by the collector unless exempted from such requirement under 
subsection (3) of this section. The collector will automatically bill the residential or 
commercial customer for such minimum level of service if the customer does not sign up 
for service within thirty (30) days of occupying a property in the city or the effective date 
of the enacting ordinance of this section, whichever is later.  

(2) Yard waste service level.  At minimum, the collector shall offer biweekly curbside 
yard waste collection service to city customers on a year-round basis and pursuant to any 
other terms negotiated in the contract with the city. Yard waste collection is an optional 
service for all persons and occupied property.    

(3) Exception to solid waste collection requirement.  

(a) If one property owner owns adjacent properties on different utility accounts, 
one solid waste service may be shared based upon a written request to and approval from 
the city and the collector. 

(b) If a residential customer owns a business in the city limits and the solid waste 
produced at the residence is being collected at the business, the residential account may 
be exempted from mandatory service based upon a written request to and approval from 
the city and the collector. 

(c) If the collector is unable to provide solid waste collection service due to 
inadequate clearance for the disposal vehicles, a customer may file a written request with 
the city for an exemption from solid waste collection services. Such exemption must be 
approved by the collector and shall be conditioned upon agreement that solid waste will 
be disposed of properly on a weekly basis at a permitted landfill by the customer. 

(d) If upon satisfactory evidence on an annual basis that a person or property 
produces no solid waste, the respective account may be exempted from mandatory 
service based upon a written request to and approval from the city and the collector. 

(4) Self-haul. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the limited and occasional hauling of 
solid waste, recyclable materials, or yard wastes by a customer from its specific property 

32 of 49



5 of 8 
 

to an approved King County solid waste, recyclable materials, or yard waste collection 
site. Occasional haulers are not exempt from the mandatory solid waste collection service 
and payment requirements and are responsible for any associated fees for such collection 
site services, as applicable. 

(35) All solid waste that is generated and/or placed for collection and collected within the 
City for delivery to the King County solid waste system for disposal shall be in 
compliance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act as amended (42 U.S.C. 
6901 et seq.), Chapter 70.95 RCW, King County Board of Health Rules and Regulations 
No. 8, and all other applicable Federal, State, and local environmental health laws, rules, 
or regulations. 

(6) The provisions of this section shall apply to all persons within the City, including the 
collector, and any other persons authorized by this chapter or other laws to collect waste 
within the City for disposal.  

8.15.060 Rates. 

(1) The rates for solid waste and yard waste collection handling service shall be 
calculated in accordance with such collection contract(s) for solid waste collection 
service as the City may enter into. 

(2) In the event of any change in rates, customers shall be notified in writing of such 
change in such manner and with such time schedule as may be established by applicable 
law. 

(3) The City shall maintain, publish, and make available to the public a current schedule 
of rates for solid waste collection handling service. Publishing may occur via the City’s 
website. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.070 Billing. 

(1) The collector shall bill for all solid waste and yard waste collection services in 
accordance with the collection contract entered into with the City. All costs related to 
billing and bill collection will be paid by the collector. 

(2) Charges for any special services not covered in the collection contract shall be 
determined by the mutual agreement of the City and the collector. 

(3) The bills provided by the collector will be due in accordance with guidelines 
established by the collector, which may include penalties for late payment. 

(4) The collector may use a collection agency, a lien process, or any other available legal 
method to recover the past due balance from the customer. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

 

 

33 of 49



6 of 8 
 

8.15.080 Improper disposal. 

(1) It is unlawful for any person to bury, burn, dump, collect, or in any other manner 
dispose of solid waste and/or yard waste upon any street, alley, public place, or private 
property within the City. 

(2) It is unlawful to deposit any solid waste and/or yard waste in a solid waste and/or yard 
waste container owned or maintained on the premises of another unless invited, licensed, 
or otherwise privileged to do so. 

(3) It is unlawful for any person to burn any solid waste and/or yard waste, except brush, 
grass, weeds, and cuttings from trees, lawn, or gardens, in any manner not authorized by 
the applicable provisions of the City’s fire code. 

(4) Whenever solid waste and/or yard waste dumped in violation of this chapter contains 
three (3) or more items bearing the name of one individual, there shall be a rebuttable 
presumption that the individual whose name appears on such items committed the 
unlawful dumping. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

(5) Any person violating this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor under CMC 
1.30.xxx and any person convicted thereof may be punished by a fine of not more than 
$500.00 or by imprisonment for no more than ninety (90) days or by both such fine and 
imprisonment. 

8.15.090 Administrative and enforcement responsibility. 

The administration and enforcement of this chapter shall be the responsibility of the 
Director of Public Works or his/her designee. The Director or his/her designee may make 
inspections to enforce this chapter and may notify the person or collector that they are in 
violation of this chapter. The Director may issue any written rules that are consistent with 
this chapter and which he/she finds are necessary for the proper administration of this 
chapter. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.100 Violations. 

Any person violating any part of this chapter shall be deemed to have created a public 
nuisance pursuant to CMC 1.30.030. Said violations may be enforced pursuant to Chapter 
1.30 CMC. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.110 Plan adopted. 

The final 2001 King County Solid Waste Management Plan dated November 2001, 
including Appendices Volumes 1 and 2, is hereby designated and adopted as the City’s 
Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan, except as otherwise set forth herein or by 
City ordinance. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1); Ord. 04-02 § 1. Formerly 8.15.010) 

 

 

34 of 49

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/puyallup/html/Puyallup01/Puyallup0101.html#1.01.110


7 of 8 
 

8.15.120 Determining levels and types of service. 

Pursuant to RCW 70.95.160, the City of Covington hereby determines that King County 
shall not exercise any powers regarding the levels and types of service of any aspect of 
solid waste handling within the corporate limits of the City as now exist or as may 
hereafter be amended. The level of and types of service for any aspect of solid waste 
handling shall be determined by City ordinance and not as set forth in any County 
regulation or ordinance as now exists or as may hereafter be adopted, including without 
limitation, the Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1); 
Ord. 04-02 § 2. Formerly 8.15.020) 

Section 2.  New Section. A new section 8.15.025 is added to Chapter 8.15 CMC, as follows:  

8.15.025 Mandatory removal and disposal. 

The maintenance of health and sanitation require, and it is the intention of this chapter to 
make, the collection, removal and proper disposal of solid waste within the city by the 
collector mandatory and universal. This section does not apply to portions of the waste 
stream that are being recycled through private, permitted recyclers or yard waste 
collection. This section does not apply to any account which has received a written 
exception to solid waste collection service from the City pursuant to the terms of this 
chapter. 

Section 3.  New Section. A new section 8.15.075 is added to Chapter 8.15 CMC, as follows:  

8.15.075 Accumulation of solid waste. 

It shall be the duty of the owner of any residence or commercial establishment to ensure 
that all solid waste that is created or accumulated is deposited into an approved container 
and is collected by a city-contracted collector. 

Section 4.  Ordinance Controls. All ordinances and sections of the Covington Municipal 
Code in conflict with this ordinance are, to the extent of the conflict, superseded and have no 
further force or effect.  

 
Section 5.  Severability. Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be held invalid or unconstitutional by 
a court of competent jurisdiction, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state 
or federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 

 
Section 6.  Corrections. Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk is authorized to 
make any necessary non-substantive, technical corrections to this ordinance including, but not 
limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, 
section/subsection numbers, and any reference thereto.  

 
Section 7.  Summary Publication. Publication of this ordinance in the official newspaper of 
the City shall be by summary publication consisting of the ordinance title.  

35 of 49



8 of 8 
 

 
Section 8.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force on and after July 
1, 2016, which date is more than five (5) days after its passage and publication. 

 
 
PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 22nd day of September, 2015.  
 

      
Mayor Margaret Harto 
 

 
PUBLISHED:   
 

EFFECTIVE:   July 1, 2016 
ATTESTED:  
      

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

                                         
Sharon Scott, City Clerk    __________________________ 
       Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

36 of 49



1 of 8 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 
 

OPTION 2—Mandatory Solid Waste (and Recycling) AND Yard Waste 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO XX-15 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, RELATING TO UNIVERSAL 
MANDATORY SOLID WASTE AND YARD WASTE 
COLLECTION SERVICE IN THE CITY OF COVINGTON; 
AMENDING CHAPTER 8.15 OF THE COVINGTON 
MUNICIPAL CODE AND RELATED ORDINANCES 
REGULATING SOLID WASTE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE, SEVERABILITY, AND SUMMARY 
PUBLICATION.  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Covington (“City”) has broad authority under the Washington 

State Constitution, Article XI, Section 11 and under state statutes, including Titles 35 and 35A of 
the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), to enact regulations the city council determines are 
necessary and appropriate to promote public health, safety, and general welfare within the City; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the regulation of common nuisance activities is a necessary governmental 

service to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare and to promote economic growth, 
environmental compliance, and aesthetic values in the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the accumulation of garbage and refuse on property and illegal dumping on 

private and public property, including storm ponds and green belts, can lead to the harboring of 
vermin, the creation of odors, the spread of litter to adjacent private and public property, and 
other health, safety, and environmental problems; is detrimental to neighborhood quality, 
stability, and property values; can interfere with the city’s compliance with its National Pollutant 
Discharge and Elimination System (NPDES) permit; and is unsightly and contrary to the 
aesthetic values of the community and therefore is detrimental and contrary to the 
aforementioned goals; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has determined that a universal, mandatory solid waste and yard 

waste collection requirement would be the best mechanism to prevent the harms described 
above; and 

 
WHEREAS, the entire City is served by a contracted solid waste collector; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city council has determined that it will promote the public health, safety, 

and general welfare, and will be in the best interests of the City and the City’s property owners, 
residents, tenants, and general public, to enact the regulations in this ordinance requiring that 

37 of 49



2 of 8 
 

solid waste and yard waste collection service is mandatory for all premises in the City, 
commercial and residential, that create, generate, or accumulate solid waste and yard waste; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 
Section 1.  Chapter 8.15 CMC Amended. Chapter 8.15 of the Covington Municipal Code 
(CMC) and Ordinance No. 04-02, as amended by Ordinance No. 04-13, are amended as follows: 

8.15.010 Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter, unless otherwise defined, the following shall have the 
intended definitions: 

(1) “Collector” or “collector of solid waste and/or recyclables” means the company(ies) 
with which the City has contracted to collect, haul, or dispose of solid waste, recyclables, 
and/or yard waste. 

(2) “Commercial” means any establishment or business that is not residential in nature, 
including hotels/motels, churches, nonprofit organizations, Federal, State and local 
government-owned facilities. 

(3) “Person” means every person, firm, partnership, association, institution, and 
corporation. The term shall also mean the occupant and/or the owner of the premises for 
which service mentioned in this chapter is rendered. 

(4) “Solid waste” means all putrescible and nonputrescible solid and semisolid wastes 
including, but not limited to, garbage, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, swill, sewage 
sludge, demolition and construction wastes, abandoned vehicles or parts thereof, and 
recyclable materials, and yard waste. (RCW 70.95.030(22)). 

(5) “Yard waste” means compostable organic materials resulting from landscape 
maintenance and pre- and post-consumer organic wastes including, but not limited to, 
leaves, brush, tree trimmings, grass clippings, weeds, shrubs, garden waste, and food 
scraps. Branches or roots must be smaller than four (4) inches in diameter and shorter 
than four (4) feet in length. Yard waste does not include stumps, demolition wood, large 
amounts of dirt, rocks, glass, plastics, metal, concrete, sheet rock, asphalt, or any other 
nonorganic land-clearing debris. (The collector may change the range of materials 
handled as yard waste upon the approval of the City to reflect those materials allowed by 
the Seattle-King County Health Department to be treated as such for the frequency of 
collection provided by the collector.) 

8.15.020 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to prevent harm to the health and safety of the public and to 
promote the public health, safety, and general welfare by providing for the regulation of 
solid waste collection and disposal and maintaining consistent and reliable solid waste 
services under the exclusive supervision and control of the City.  

38 of 49



3 of 8 
 

It is expressly the purpose of this chapter to provide for and promote the health of the 
general public, and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular class or 
group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of 
this chapter. 

It is the specific intent of this chapter to place the obligation of complying with its 
requirements upon waste generators, collectors, and/or operators of solid waste handling 
sites, and no provision of, nor term used in this chapter is intended to impose any duty 
whatsoever upon the City nor any of its officers or employees, for whom the 
implementation or enforcement of this chapter shall be discretionary and not mandatory. 

Nothing contained in this chapter is intended to be, nor shall be construed to create or 
form the basis for any liability on the part of the City or its officers, employees or agents, 
for any injury or damage resulting from the failure of any person subject to this chapter to 
comply with the provisions herein, or by reason or in consequence of any act or omission 
in connection with the implementation or enforcement of this chapter on the part of the 
City.  

8.15.030 Hauling restrictions.  

It is unlawful for any person, other than a contractorcollector having a contract for solid 
waste and recyclable material collection and disposal with the City, to collect, haul, or 
dispose of solid waste within the City. Provided, however, nothing in this section shall be 
construed to prohibit (1) portions of the waste stream that are being recycled through 
permitted commercial recyclers; or (2) a residential occupant transporting, on a 
nonregular or occasional basis, surplus accumulations of rubbish or garbage from his/her 
residence to an approved disposal site. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.040 Contract for solid waste collection services – Terms. 

(1) The City shall let a contract or contracts to provide for the collection of all solid 
wastes and yard waste within the City. The details of such a contract or contracts shall be 
agreed upon after negotiations and the City Council’s action thereon shall be final. Such 
negotiations may be preceded by a call for bids or proposals if determined to be 
necessary and at the discretion of City Council. Such contract shall obligate the collector 
to pick up solid wastes and yard waste in the City in accordance with this chapter and 
shall provide for the collector to be paid for its services out of fees for collection. 

(2) Every such contract for solid waste and yard waste collection also shall contain a 
provision that such contract may not be assigned by the collector, or the responsibilities 
thereunder transferred, except with the prior consent of the City. 

(3) Such contract(s) shall be for such term as the City Council shall find is in the best 
public interest and may contain provisions, upon proper standards, for adjustments in 
service rates. 

(4) Such contract(s) shall contain suitable provisions permitting the forfeiture of the 
contract for nonperformance or violation of such contract by the collector. (Ord. 04-13 
§ 1 (Exh. 1)) 

39 of 49



4 of 8 
 

 

8.15.050 Collection – Requirements. 

(1) Universal collection required. The collector shall collect, remove, and dispose of all 
solid waste and yard waste from the premises, whether residential, commercial, 
industrial, or otherwise, existing within the City upon such periodic schedule as included 
in the collection contract. All persons and properties within the city are required to use 
the solid waste collector(s) of the city and it shall be unlawful for any person, other than 
those duly authorized by the city, to haul solid waste and/or yard waste through the 
streets of the city. Pursuant to the definition of “solid waste” in this chapter, solid waste 
collection shall also include the collection of recyclable materials. 

(2) Minimum service level. All persons and occupied property shall use and be 
responsible for at least the minimum level of solid waste, including recycling, and yard 
waste collection service, and associated charges for residential or commercial service, as 
applicable, offered by the collector unless exempted from such requirement under 
subsection (3) of this section. The collector will automatically bill the residential or 
commercial customer for such minimum level of service if the customer does not sign up 
for service within thirty (30) days of occupying a property in the city or the effective date 
of the enacting ordinance of this section, whichever is later.  

(3) Exception to collection requirement.  

(a) If one property owner owns adjacent properties on different utility accounts, 
one solid waste and yard waste service may be shared based upon a written request to and 
approval from the city and the collector. 

(b) If a residential customer owns a business in the city limits and the solid waste 
and yard waste produced at the residence is being collected at the business, the residential 
account may be exempted from mandatory service based upon a written request to and 
approval from the city and the collector. 

(c) If the collector is unable to provide collection service due to inadequate 
clearance for the disposal vehicles, a customer may file a written request with the city for 
an exemption from mandatory collection services. Such exemption must be approved by 
the collector and shall be conditioned upon agreement that solid waste and yard waste 
will be disposed of properly on a weekly basis at a permitted landfill by the customer. 

(d) If upon satisfactory evidence on an annual basis that a person or property 
produces no solid waste or yard waste, the respective account may be exempted from 
mandatory collection service based upon a written request to and approval from the city 
and the collector. 

(4) Self-haul. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the limited and occasional hauling of 
solid waste, recyclable materials, or yard wastes by a customer from its specific property 
to an approved King County solid waste, recyclable materials, or yard waste collection 
site. Occasional haulers are not exempt from the mandatory solid waste collection service 
and payment requirements and are responsible for any associated fees for such collection 
site services, as applicable. 

40 of 49



5 of 8 
 

(35) All solid waste that is generated and/or placed for collection and collected within the 
City for delivery to the King County solid waste system for disposal shall be in 
compliance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act as amended (42 U.S.C. 
6901 et seq.), Chapter 70.95 RCW, King County Board of Health Rules and Regulations 
No. 8, and all other applicable Federal, State, and local environmental health laws, rules, 
or regulations. 

(6) The provisions of this section shall apply to all persons within the City, including the 
collector, and any other persons authorized by this chapter or other laws to collect waste 
within the City for disposal.  

8.15.060 Rates. 

(1) The rates for solid waste and yard waste collectionhandling service shall be calculated 
in accordance with such collection contract(s) for solid waste collection service as the 
City may enter into. 

(2) In the event of any change in rates, customers shall be notified in writing of such 
change in such manner and with such time schedule as may be established by applicable 
law. 

(3) The City shall maintain, publish, and make available to the public a current schedule 
of rates for solid waste and yard waste collection handling service. Publishing may occur 
via the City’s website. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.070 Billing. 

(1) The collector shall bill for all solid waste and yard waste collection services in 
accordance with the collection contract entered into with the City. All costs related to 
billing and bill collection will be paid by the collector. 

(2) Charges for any special services not covered in the collection contract shall be 
determined by the mutual agreement of the City and the collector. 

(3) The bills provided by the collector will be due in accordance with guidelines 
established by the collector, which may include penalties for late payment. 

(4) The collector may use a collection agency, a lien process, or any other available legal 
method to recover the past due balance from the customer. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.080 Improper disposal. 

(1) It is unlawful for any person to bury, burn, dump, collect, or in any other manner 
dispose of solid waste and/or yard waste upon any street, alley, public place, or private 
property within the City. 

(2) It is unlawful to deposit any solid waste and/or yard waste in a solid waste and/or yard 
waste container owned or maintained on the premises of another unless invited, licensed, 
or otherwise privileged to do so. 

41 of 49



6 of 8 
 

(3) It is unlawful for any person to burn any solid waste and/or yard waste, except brush, 
grass, weeds, and cuttings from trees, lawn, or gardens, in any manner not authorized by 
the applicable provisions of the City’s fire code. 

(4) Whenever solid waste and/or yard waste dumped in violation of this chapter contains 
three (3) or more items bearing the name of one individual, there shall be a rebuttable 
presumption that the individual whose name appears on such items committed the 
unlawful dumping. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

(5) Any person violating this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor under CMC 
1.30.xxx and any person convicted thereof may be punished by a fine of not more than 
$500.00 or by imprisonment for no more than ninety (90) days or by both such fine and 
imprisonment. 

8.15.090 Administrative and enforcement responsibility. 

The administration and enforcement of this chapter shall be the responsibility of the 
Director of Public Works or his/her designee. The Director or his/her designee may make 
inspections to enforce this chapter and may notify the person or collector that they are in 
violation of this chapter. The Director may issue any written rules that are consistent with 
this chapter and which he/she finds are necessary for the proper administration of this 
chapter. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.100 Violations. 

Any person violating any part of this chapter shall be deemed to have created a public 
nuisance pursuant to CMC 1.30.030. Said violations may be enforced pursuant to Chapter 
1.30 CMC. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1)) 

8.15.110 Plan adopted. 

The final 2001 King County Solid Waste Management Plan dated November 2001, 
including Appendices Volumes 1 and 2, is hereby designated and adopted as the City’s 
Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan, except as otherwise set forth herein or by 
City ordinance. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1); Ord. 04-02 § 1. Formerly 8.15.010) 

8.15.120 Determining levels and types of service. 

Pursuant to RCW 70.95.160, the City of Covington hereby determines that King County 
shall not exercise any powers regarding the levels and types of service of any aspect of 
solid waste handling within the corporate limits of the City as now exist or as may 
hereafter be amended. The level of and types of service for any aspect of solid waste 
handling shall be determined by City ordinance and not as set forth in any County 
regulation or ordinance as now exists or as may hereafter be adopted, including without 
limitation, the Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan. (Ord. 04-13 § 1 (Exh. 1); 
Ord. 04-02 § 2. Formerly 8.15.020) 

 
 

42 of 49

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/puyallup/html/Puyallup01/Puyallup0101.html#1.01.110


7 of 8 
 

Section 2.  New Section. A new section 8.15.025 is added to Chapter 8.15 CMC, as follows:  

8.15.025 Mandatory removal and disposal. 

The maintenance of health and sanitation require, and it is the intention of this chapter to 
make, the collection, removal and proper disposal of solid waste and yard waste within 
the city by the collector mandatory and universal. This section does not apply to portions 
of the waste stream that are being recycled through private, permitted recyclers. This 
section does not apply to any account which has received a written exception to solid 
waste and yard waste service from the City pursuant to the terms of this chapter. 

Section 3.  New Section. A new section 8.15.075 is added to Chapter 8.15 CMC, as follows:  

8.15.075 Accumulation of solid waste and yard waste. 

It shall be the duty of the owner of any residence or commercial establishment to ensure 
that all solid waste and yard waste that is created or accumulated is deposited into an 
approved container and is collected by a city-contracted collector. 

Section 4.  Ordinance Controls. All ordinances and sections of the Covington Municipal 
Code in conflict with this ordinance are, to the extent of the conflict, superseded and have no 
further force or effect.  

 
Section 5.  Severability. Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be held invalid or unconstitutional by 
a court of competent jurisdiction, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state 
or federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 

 
Section 6.  Corrections. Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk is authorized to 
make any necessary non-substantive, technical corrections to this ordinance including, but not 
limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, 
section/subsection numbers, and any reference thereto.  

 
Section 7.  Summary Publication. Publication of this ordinance in the official newspaper of 
the City shall be by summary publication consisting of the ordinance title.  

 
Section 8.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force on and after July 
1, 2016, which date is more than five (5) days after its passage and publication. 

 
[SIGNATURES INCLUDED ON NEXT PAGE] 

// 
// 
// 
// 
// 

43 of 49



8 of 8 
 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 22nd day of September, 2015.  
 

      
Mayor Margaret Harto 
 

 
PUBLISHED:   
 

EFFECTIVE:   July 1, 2016 
ATTESTED:   
     

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

                                         
Sharon Scott, City Clerk    __________________________ 
       Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

44 of 49



ATTACHMENT 3

Description Service Level

Existing 

Service 

Fee

Current 

Residents 

Paying for 

Service

Current Yearly 

Total

Mandatory 

Rate 

Reduction

Mandatory 

Service

Fee

Covington 

Households

Total Fees with 

Mandatory 

Collection

Increased Fees 

with 

Mandatory 

Collection

Estimated 

Revenue 

increase with 

current Utility 

Tax (6%)

Estimated 

Revenue 

increase with 

Utility Tax 

(12%)*

Weekly Residential 

Curbside (includes 

embedded EOW 

recycling)

32-gallon cart  $    17.66 4,960  $    1,051,123.20  $            0.12  $        17.54 6,368  $   1,340,336.64  $   289,213.44  $     17,352.81  $   190,998.61 

Yard/Food Waste Service 

(EOW)
96-gallon cart  $       7.70 2,998  $       277,015.20  $            0.13  $          7.57 6,368  $      578,469.12  $   301,453.92  $     18,087.24  $     36,174.47 

 $  1,328,138.40  $ 1,918,805.76 

 $   35,440.04  $ 227,173.08 

 $     156,293.00   2014 Solid Waste Utility Tax Received 

 $       79,688.30 Estimated portion of Solid Waste Utility Tax from residential customers

using current yearly total (above)

City of Covington

Comparison for Mandatory Garbage or Garbage and Yard Waste Services

* The revenue increase is the amount above what was received in 2014 ($156,293) plus the 12% increase in the new customers

45 of 49



  
Covington City Council Meeting 
           Date:  September 22, 2015 

 
DISCUSSION OF  

FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 
 
 

6:00 p.m., Tuesday, October 13, 2015 Special Study Session 
 

7:00 p.m., Tuesday, October 13, 2015 Regular Meeting 
 

(Draft Agendas Attached) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

46 of 49



 
 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION 
Council Chambers – 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Tuesday, October 13, 2015 – 6:00 p.m. 
                                                                         
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
The study session is an informal meeting involving discussion between and among the City Council, 
Commissioners, and city staff regarding policy issues.  Study sessions may involve presentations, 
feedback, brainstorming, etc., regarding further work to be done by the staff on key policy matters. 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
ITEM(S) FOR DISCUSSION 
1. Sign Code Revisions (Hart) 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, 

not the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes 
per speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 

 
*Note* A Regular Council meeting will follow at approximately 7:00 p.m. 

Draft 
as of 09/17/15 

 

47 of 49

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 
Tuesday, October 13, 2015                                                                                                  City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Note:  A Study Session is scheduled from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

 

CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
  
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

 Safe Schools Week Proclamation – Week of October 18, 2015 (Kent School District 
Superintendent Dr. Calvin Watts and School Resource Officer Karen Davy) 

 Green River Coalition Report on Covington Community Park Project – Greg Wingard (15 
minutes) 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 

the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  September 8, 2015 Regular Meeting and September 22, 2015 Regular Meeting (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-3. Approve Partial Termination of Easement for Maple Hills (Lyons) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Comments and Consider Ordinance to Combine Covington Transportation Benefit District 

and Covington City Council (Bolli) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Consider Ordinance to Implement $20 Car Tab Fee (Hendrickson) 
3. Town Center Presentation (Panattoni/Helix Group) – 30 minutes 
4. Consider 2016 Legislative Agenda (Bolli) 
5. City Manager Presents 2016 Budget Message (Bolli) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION - If Needed 

Draft 
as of 09/17/15 

 

48 of 49

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


 
ADJOURN 
 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 

49 of 49


	09-22-2015 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 09-22-2015 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent C-1 Attachment
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet 09-22-15 Best Parking Lot Cleaning - Amendment 1
	Consent C-2 Attachment 1 09-22-15 Amendment 1 - Best Parking Lot Cleaning
	Consent C-3 Green Sheet 09-22-15 Blue Sheet Authorize Change Order 
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Part 1 Att 1 Partially WHH signed CO#01 Jenkins Creek Park
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Part 2 Att 1 Part 2 Spring Pond - Channel Improvements 8-24-15
	Consent C-3 Attachment 2 Att 2 Revised Amendment No 4 - Jenkins Ck Park Ped and ADA
	Item 1 Blue Sheet 09-22-2015 Youth Appointment to Human Services Commission Blue Sheet
	Item 2 Blue Sheet 09-22-15 Aquatics Annual Update
	Item 3 Blue Sheet 09-22-15 Mandatory Solid Waste Ordinance Blue Sheet
	Item 3 Attachment 1 OPT 1_ORD_Mandatory Solid Waste ONLY_22Sept2015
	Item 3 Attachment 2 OPT 2_ORD_Mandatory Solid Waste AND Yard Waste_22Sept2015
	Item 3 Attachment 3 09-22-15 Mandatory Rates Comparison
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet for Two Meetings
	10-13-2015 Special Study Session Agenda
	10-13-2015 Regular Meeting Agenda



